toan copy only

RESEARCH NEEDS ON KELP BED RESOURCES

An Interdisciplinary

Approach

Summary of a Program Development Workshop Sponsored by the California Bea Grant College

CIRCULATING COPY

Editor Deborak A. McArdle

RESEARCH NEEDS ON KELP BED RESOURCES

An Interdisciplinary Approach

Summary of a Program Development Workshop Sponsored by the Sea Grant Extension Program University of California, Cooperative Extension

> June 7, 1994 San Francisco, California

EDITOR Deborah A McArdle

Meeting Organizing Committee
Christopher M. Dewees, California Sea Grant Coordinator, Fisheries Specialist
Richard M. Starr, California Sea Grant Marine Advisor
Deborah A. McArdle, California Sea Grant Marine Advisor

1994

Report No. T-CSGCP-032 California Sea Grant College University of California La Jolla, California 92093-0232

Sea Grant is a unique partnership of public and private sectors, combining research, education, and technology transfer for public service. It is a national network of universities meeting changing environmental and economic needs of people in our coastal, ocean, and Great Lakes regions.

Published by the California Sea Grant College, University of California, La Jolla, California, 1994. Additional single copies are available free of charge from: California Sea Grant College, University of California, 9500 Gilman Drive, La Jolla, CA 92093-0232. (619) 534-4444.

This publication is funded by a grant from the National Sea Grant College Program, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, U.S. Department of Commerce, under grant number NA36RG0537, Project number A/EA-1. The views expressed herein are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of NOAA or any of its sub-agencies. The U.S. Government is authorized to reproduce and

distribute for governmental purposes.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	2
OVERVIEW	3
KELP BED RESOURCE NEEDS	
I. BIOLOGY	
A. Recruitment	4
1. Physical/Biological Factors	4
B. Population Dynamics	4 4 4 5 5
1. Genetics	4
2. Marine Diseases	5
3. Biology of Newly Harvested Species	
C. Community Aspects	5 5 6
1. Community Interactions	5
2. Community Level Surveys and Long-Term Monitoring	6
3. Relationship of Physical Conditions to the Kelp Bed Community	6
II. SOCIAL, ECONOMIC, AND CULTURAL	6
III. RESOURCE MANAGEMENT	6
IV. INFORMATION NEEDS	7
APPENDIX I. Participants	8
APPENDIX II. Review Panelists	9

INTRODUCTION

The California Sea Grant College sponsors workshops periodically to identify needed research on coastal- and marine-related topics. In previous Sea Grant workshops on kelp bed resources, and particularly the 1992 International Conference on Sea Urchins, Abalone, and Kelp, participants called for an increase in interdisciplinary interactions that would link biological, physical, and social scientists with resource managers, policy makers, and industry representatives.

In an effort to address that need, representatives from the California Sea Grant Extension Program organized a subject area meeting on June 7, 1994, in San Francisco. Scientists and managers from a number of disciplines and different locations throughout the state were invited in order to provide a wide representation of expertise and geographic range.

Dr. James J. Sullivan, director of the California Sea Grant College, opened the workshop by explaining the role of Sea Grant in bringing people with different perspectives together to study and resolve coastal and marine issues. Associate director Dolores Wesson provided a description of the Southwest Regional Marine Research Program and explained its relationship to kelp bed research. Dr. Mia Tegner, Scripps Institution of Oceanography, University of California, San Diego, then provided a general overview of research needs identified at previous workshops, as well as a description of the current status of kelp bed resources. Following Dr. Tegner's remarks, Dr. Chris Dewees and Rick Starr from the Sea Grant Extension Program led a general group discussion to identify broad categories of research and management needs. On the basis of this, participants were divided into three interdisciplinary groups—led respectively by Marine Advisors Susan McBride, Deborah McArdle, and Rick Starr to develop more specific lists of research and resource management needs. The results of each group were summarized and presented to all meeting participants, and a draft document of research priorities was written.

The draft was sent out to participants for review (Appendix I). It was also distributed to a broadly representative group of resource users, researchers, and agency representatives for additional comment (Appendix II). This document incorporates the result of discussions that occurred at the meeting, as well as subsequent reviews.

We hope that this document will inspire new interdisciplinary approaches to kelp bed research and management, both of which are needed in order to sustain the resources on a long-term basis.

OVERVIEW

The increased complexity of resource conservation in the coastal zone requires a more complex approach to research and management. In particular, an interdisciplinary approach is needed to successfully confront the numerous problems that threaten kelp bed resources. New interdisciplinary connections would facilitate (a) the identification of research gaps by resource users, managers, and researchers; (b) the development of research projects by biological, physical, and social scientists; and (c) the integration of research results into management decision-making.

Workshop participants generally agreed that we need to learn more about the oceanographic processes involved in recruitment in order to recognize or make meaningful predictions of trends. For example, there can be orders of magnitude in the variation of yearly recruitment levels of the red sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus franciscanus*. And declines in fisheries may be influenced by natural variability in oceanographic processes as well as by anthropogenic impacts such as pollution and overharvesting; additional research on factors affecting recruitment may allow resource managers to distinguish the difference.

Participants also stressed the need for more integrated research in population biology and genetics, which might allow researchers to identify the genetic differences between populations of individual species, as well as the significance of these individual populations to kelp bed communities as a whole. We have observed major declines in resources such as kelp, sea urchins, and abalones as a result of large-scale disturbances (e.g., El Niños, disease, and overharvesting). A knowledge of the genetic diversity of individual populations might help resource managers to predict population resilience to future disturbances.

Since resource species are integral parts of kelp bed ecosystems, a variety of ecological processes, including interactions with other species, will affect the population dynamics of the individual resource species. Consequently, workshop participants suggested that it may be important for managers and researchers to study the system as a whole. This would include an investigation of alternative, "multispecies" or "habitat" approaches to management, including temporary or permanent spatial closures. Participants also agreed that increased efforts should be made to incorporate economic and social research into management plan development along with physical and biological research. The success of any management strategy also depends, in part, on the involvement of resource users in management strategy development, implementation, and enforcement.

Although the need for interdisciplinary approaches to research and management is recognized throughout the world, the means to achieve such an approach are not fully developed. Many of the identified research objectives for kelp bed resources would require studies of long duration and broad geographic range. Workshop participants discussed the need to bridge institutional gaps and to fund studies appropriately, so that research results can reflect both the spatial and temporal scales of the parameters or species being studied. It is essential that interdisciplinary investigations of kelp bed resources begin now, but the means to pursue interdisciplinary approaches to research and management also need to be further explored.

KELP BED RESOURCE RESEARCH NEEDS

I. BIOLOGY

A. Recruitment

As was true of previous meetings, members of all discussion groups thought the factors controlling kelp bed resource recruitment are still not well understood. Discussion groups generally agreed that the top priority was to study the effects of small and large scale physical processes on the spatial and temporal variability of recruitment. Identified recruitment issues that couple biological and physical disciplines include:

1. Physical/Biological Factors

- Is there a relationship between ocean circulation patterns and larval dispersal and settlement? Can ocean circulation patterns be used to predict larval distribution and settlement patterns?
- Can patterns of larval distribution and settlement be detected and/ or predicted by data available on physical parameters (e.g., satellite imagery, sea surface temperatures, winds, salinities and sea levels)?
- What is the spatial and temporal variability in the production and dispersal of kelp and kelp bed resources?
- Can patterns be detected in episodic recruitment events by largerscale spatial and temporal monitoring?
- Is there a relationship between large-scale physical disturbances (e.g., El Niño events) and recruitment and settlement patterns).

B. Population Dynamics

Participants identified two primary areas in which research is needed: 1) genetics and 2) the effects of disturbance (e.g., storms, disease, harvesting pressure, extreme water temperature fluctuations and introduced species) on resource population size and distribution. The role of marine diseases in structuring resource populations (e.g., abalone withering foot syndrome) continues to be a high priority research area. Studies of the population dynamics of species experiencing an increase in harvest pressure (e.g., lobster, sheephead, purple sea urchins, and bull kelp) are needed in order to conserve and utilize these species on a long-term basis.

Listed below are potential research questions associated with the high-priority issues in population dynamics.

1. Genetics

 How are populations of kelp bed resources structured spatially coastwide (including Mexico), and is there genetic flow among resource populations? What are the primary means of genetic dispersal between resource populations (e.g., ocean currents, migration, kelp "rafts")? What is the coastwide genetic composition of individual kelp bed resource populations? Does this genetic composition affect the resiliency of resource populations to disturbances? Is there a relationship between population size and genetic composition?

2. Marine Diseases

- How do diseases alter the genetic structure of kelp bed resource populations?
- Do large scale disturbances (e.g., El Niño, overharvesting, etc.)
 make resource populations more susceptible to disease?
- How can diagnostic techniques to identify diseases be improved?
- How do specific environmental changes (e.g., pollution and sediment deposition) alter transmission of and resource susceptibility to diseases?
- Does resource population size affect its susceptibility to disease?

3. Biology of Newly Harvested Species

- What is the current population size of the resource? Is the population size consistent or does it vary temporally and/or spatially?
- How can data from population studies of previously harvested species (e.g., giant kelp, Macrocystis pyrifera, and the red sea urchin, Strongylocentrotus franciscanus) be used to understand the population dynamics of species experiencing new or increased harvest efforts (e.g., bull kelp Nereocystis luetkeana and the purple sea urchin Strongylocentrotus purpuratus)?
- How does harvesting pressure affect the population structure of newly harvested species? Can the effects of harvesting on resource population size and distribution be modeled or predicted?

C. Community Aspects

The participants of this and previous kelp bed meetings expressed a need for a better understanding of the interactive relationships between members of the kelp bed community. A particular emphasis was placed on the need to implement long-term monitoring programs coastwide to allow often undetectable large-scale patterns in the temporal and spatial fluctuations of kelp bed communities to be recognized. High-priority issues and related research questions include:

1. Community Interactions

 How does harvesting one species of a kelp community affect other species in the community? (e.g., What is the effect of kelp harvesting on species in the benthic community? How has the benthic community evolved to utilize drift algae in areas where kelp is harvested in comparison to areas where kelp is not harvested.)

- 2. Community Level Surveys and Long-Term Monitoring
 - What are the temporal and spatial fluctuations in the distribution of kelp bed communities?
 - What is the long-term resilience of kelp bed communities to largescale biological and physical disturbances?
 - How do northern and southern kelp bed communities compare?
- 3. Relationship of Physical Conditions to the Kelp Bed Community
 - How does kelp canopy shape and size affect water movement, light dispersal and other physical and biological parameters.
 - How do small and large scale fluctuations in physical conditions affect kelp bed communities?

II. SOCIAL, ECONOMIC AND CULTURAL

The discussion groups identified several social, economic and cultural issues related to the kelp bed community. Their recommendations for high priority research topics are as follows:

- 1. What is the economic value of the kelp ecosystem resources (e.g., sportfishing, commercial fishing, tourism, and related businesses)?
- 2. What are the economic, social and cultural implications of the changes in traditional kelp bed fisheries?
- 3. What are the social, economic and cultural benefits and costs of implementing long-term, multispecies or habitat approaches to kelp bed management (e.g., temporary or permanent spatial closures) to resource users?

III. RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

It was generally agreed that a multispecies or habitat approach to kelp bed management (e.g., temporary and/or permanent spatial closures) needs to be further investigated. Appropriate biological, physical and social questions need to be determined and addressed and the involvement of industry representatives at all stages of this process is essential.

The development of methods to make research information more accessible to decision makers and more relevant to their mandates and responsibilities was also a high priority. Questions raised by scientists to managers included: what are the goals of management and at what scale are you trying to manage (species, populations or communities)? Resource management questions that need to be addressed include:

1. Are temporary and/or permanent spatial closures a viable scientific, social and political option for a long-term multispecies approach to kelp bed management?

- Will spatial closures lead to a concentration of effort in "open" areas?
- How will enforcement of spatial closures be funded?
- Will funding be available to effectively research and monitor closed areas?
- 2. How can biological, physical and social scientific knowledge be more efficiently and effectively integrated into the formation of kelp bed management decisions?
- 3. What methods can be used to increase the involvement of industry representatives in every stage of the management process including development, implementation and enforcement of management strategies? How can industry representatives become more involved in the research studies conducted by resource managers and university-based scientists?
- 4. Have single-species approaches to kelp bed resource management succeeded or failed in the past and why?

IV. INFORMATION NEEDS

An essential component of developing and implementing strategies for interdisciplinary kelp bed research and management strategies is the existence of channels that allow for information exchange. The discussion groups identified several areas in which additional information exchange is needed. Identified information needs include:

- Improvement in the exchange of information among scientists, legislators, resource managers and resource users. Forums are needed that would foster discussions on topics such as the integration of scientific information into the formation of management strategies and the role of resource management in the development of political objectives.
- 2. The identification and discussion of issues involved in developing long-term, multispecies or habitat approaches to management (e.g., temporary and/or permanent spatial closures) among industry representatives, resource managers and scientists. Questions include, but aren't limited to:
 - · What species would benefit most from such management strategies?
 - What are the appropriate criteria for site selection?
 - What are the appropriate measurements of success?
- 3. The continuation of conferences that update scientists, resource managers, and industry representatives on the most recent developments in kelp bed resource research, enhancement, and management.

APPENDIX I. PARTICIPANTS

Louis W. Botsford

Wildlife & Fisheries Biology University of California Davis, California 95616

Andrew Cameron

Division of Biology 15620 California Institute of Technology Pasadena, California 91125

Robert C. Carpenter

Department of Biology California State University Northridge, California 91330

Tony Chess

National Marine Fisheries Service Tiburon Fisheries Laboratory 3150 Paradise Drive Tiburon, California 94920

James A. Coyer

Hopkins Marine Station Pacific Grove, California 93950

John M. Duffy

Scnior Marine Biologist Marine Resources Division California Department of Fish & Game 1416 Ninth Street, 12th Floor Sacramento, California 95814

Jack Engle

Department of Biology University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Michael S. Foster

Moss Landing Marine Laboratory P.O. Box 450 Moss Landing, California 95030-0450

Carolyn Friedman

California Department of Fish & Game 2111 Nimbus Road Rancho Cordova, California 95570

Peter L. Haaker

Marine Resources Division California Department of Fish & Game 330 Golden Shore, Suite 50 Long Beach, California 90802 Ted Hobson

National Marine Fisheries Service 3150 Paradise Drive Tiburon, California 94920

Pete Kalvass

California Department of Fish & Game 19160 South Harbor Drive Fort Bragg, California 95437

Iulio Palleiro Nayar

Instituto Nacional de la Pesca Apdo. Postal 1306 Carr. Tijuana Ensenada Km. 97.5 Rumbo Playa el Sauzal Ensenada, BC, Mexico

Dan Reed

University of California Marine Science Institute Santa Barbara, California 93106

James J. Sullivan

Director California Sea Grant College University of California, San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive La Jolla, California 92093-0232

Mia J. Tegner

Marine Biology/MLRG University of California, San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive, Dept. 0201 La Jolla, California 92093-0201

Dolores Wesson

Associate Director California Sea Grant College University of California, San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive La Jolla, California 92093-0232

Sue Yoder

Coastal Resources Specialist USC Sea Grant Program Hancock Institute University Park Los Angeles, California 90089-1231

Richard C. Zimmerman

Hopkins Marine Station Pacific Grove, California 93050

APPENDIX II. REVIEW PANELISTS

Brian Baird

Chairman

Resources Agency Sea Grant Advisory Panel 1416 Ninth Street, Suite 1311 Sacramento, California 95814

Craig Barlotti

Kelco

2025 East Harbor Drive San Diego, California 92113

Bob Bertelli

California Urchin Producer Association P.O. Box 310 Forestville, California 95436

Mark Brzezinski

Marine Sciences Institute University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

William Bushing

Department of Biology University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Gregor M. Cailliet

Moss Landing Marine Laboratory P.O. Box 450 Moss Landing, California 95030-0450

Joe Carrillo

Santa Barbara Salmon Enhancement Association P.O. Box 22957 Santa Barbara, California 93121-2957

Paul Dayton

Marine Life Research Group University of California, San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive, Dept. 0201 La Jolla, California 92093-0201

Alfred W. Ebeling

Coastal Research Center Marine Science Institute University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Thomas A. Ebert

Department of Biology College of Sciences San Diego State University San Diego, California 92112-0057

John E. Estes

Department of Geography University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Bob Fletcher

Sportfishing Association of California 2917 Cañon Street San Diego, California 92106

Kathleen Foltz

Marine Science Institute University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Dale Glantz

Kelco 2025 East Harbor Drive San Diego, California 92113

Rick Guiterrez

SPS Santa Barbara Station 116 Anacapa Street, Suite D Santa Barbara, California 93101

Peter Halmay

San Diego Urchin Producer Marketing Association 11103 Hwy 67 Lakeside, California 92040

Gregory Hamman

Facultad de Ciencies Marinas/UABC Apdo. Postal 453 Ensenada, BC Mexico

Sally J. Holbrook

Biological Sciences 1217 Noble Hall University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Gary Johnson

Commercial Sea Urchin/Abalone Diver 6 Harbor Way Santa Barbara, California 93109

Ralph Johnson

San Francisco State University 1600 Holloway Avenue San Francisco, California 94132

John Largier

Center for Coastal Studies University of California, San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive, Dept. 0209 La Jolla, California 92093-0209

Don R. Levitan

Department of Zoology University of California 4350 Storer Hall Davis, California 95616

Milton Love

Marine Science Institute University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Sally MacIntyre

Marine Science Institute University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Mike McCorkle

California Commercial Trawlers Association P.O. Box 713 Summerland, California 93067

Tana McHale

Ventura County Sea Urchin Association 1021 Scandia Avenue, #83 Ventura, California 93004

Peter Neushul

Department of History University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Alejandro Pares-Sierra

University of California, San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive, Dept. 0221 La Jolla, California 92093-0221

John S. Pearse

Institute of Marine Sciences University of California Santa Cruz, California 95064

James F. Quinn

Division of Environmental Studies University of California Davis, California 95616

Peter T. Raimondi

Coastal Research Center Marine Science Institute University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Linda Rao

CORM

The Resources Agency 1416 Ninth Street, Suite 1311 Sacramento, California 95814

Steve Rebuck

P.O. Box 571

San Luis Obispo, California 93406

Dick Rosenblatt

MBRD, Scripps Institution of Oceanography University of California, San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive, Dept. 0208 La Jolla, California 92093-0208

James Rote

Principal Consultant Assembly Office of Research 1020 N Street, Room 408 Sacramento, California 95814

Dave Rudie

Catalina Offshore Products, Inc. 702 K Street San Diego, California 92117

Russ Schmidt

Department of Biology University of California Santa Barbara, California 93106

Steve Stanson

Kelp Harvester 18603 Highway 1, #58 Fort Bragg, California 95437

Bruce Steele

Director's Sea Urchin Advisory Committee 930 Fellowship Road Santa Barbara, California 93109

Chris Van Hook

Abalone International P.O. Box 1640 Crescent City, California 95531

John A. West

Department of Plant Biology University of California Berkeley, California 94720

Warren White

CSI, Scripps Institute of Oceanography University of California, San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive, Dept. 0221 La Jolla, California 92093-0221

James E. Wilen

Department of Agricultural Economics University of California Davis, California 95616

Susan Williams

Director Coastal Marine Institute San Diego State University San Diego, California 92182-0057